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CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

I. INTRODUCTION

1. This case is very simple: Defendants convince consumers to buy their

�FIJI� brand of bottled water � and to pay more for FIJI than for competing brands � 

by advertising and labeling FIJI as �The World�s Only CARBON NEGATIVE bottled 

water�.  In other words, Defendants claim that they remove more carbon pollution

from our atmosphere than they release into it. In reality, however, FIJI water is not

�Carbon Negative.�  Instead, Defendants justify this claim by employing a discredited

carbon accounting method known as �forward crediting.� Thus, Defendants do not 

remove more carbon pollution than they create; they simply claim credit for carbon

removal that may or may not take place � up to several decades in the future.

2. Bottled water is a multi-billion dollar industry and the fastest growing

and most profitable segment of the beverage industry. As a result of their false and

misleading claims, Defendants have captured a substantial segment of that market.

Plaintiff therefore brings this action to stop Defendants� deception and require them to 

make restitution for the false claims from which they have richly profited.

II. THE PARTIES

A. The Plaintiff

3. Plaintiff, Desiree Worthington, is a California citizen who resides in this

judicial district and who has repeatedly purchased Fiji water during the class period.

B. The Defendants

4. Defendant FIJI Water Company LLC is a Delaware corporation, having

its principal place of business at 11444 W. Olympic Blvd., 2nd Floor, Los Angeles, CA

90064 and doing business throughout the United States that owns, advertises, and

distributes the FIJI water brand of products.

5. Defendant Roll International Corporation is a Delaware corporation,

having its principal place of business at 11444 W. Olympic Blvd., Los Angeles, CA

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» î ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæî



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

- 3 -

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

90064 and doing business throughout the United States that owns, advertises, and

distributes the FIJI water brand of products.

6. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate,

representative, alter ego or otherwise, of defendants and/or their alter egos named

herein as DOES 1 through 10 inclusive are presently unknown to Plaintiff at this time,

and are therefore sued by such fictitious names pursuant to California Code of Civil

Procedure § 474. Plaintiff will amend this Complaint to allege the true names and

capacities of DOES 1 through 10 when the same have been ascertained. Plaintiff are

further informed and believe and based thereon allege that DOES 1 through 10 were

and/or are, in some manner or way, responsible for and liable to Plaintiff for the

events, happenings, and damages hereinafter set forth below.

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has jurisdiction over all causes of action asserted herein

pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Act (�CAFA�) because there exists diversity of

citizenship for purposes of CAFA and because the amount in controversy exceeds $5

million. Specifically, at least one member of the putative class is a citizen of a State

different from at least one of the Defendants. .

8. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§1391(c) and 1395(a),

because Defendants� products that are the subject of this Complaint are advertised for

sale, offered for sale, and sold within this judicial district, and because a substantial

portion of the events giving rise to this lawsuit occurred in this District.

9. Plaintiff has filed concurrently herewith the declaration of venue required

by Civil Code Section 1780(d).

IV. BACKGROUND FACTS

10. Defendants manufacture, market, and distribute the �FIJI� brand of 

bottled water. A liter of FIJI bottled water retails for approximately $2.59, well above

comparable brands of bottled water.
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11. Defendants justify the inflated cost of FIJI water and cause consumers to

purchase FIJI water by claiming that FIJI is �CARBON NEGATIVE�, which refers to 

the impact of the company�s global carbon footprint. Defendants likewise advertise

that FIJI water is the �first and only major bottled water company to make this

commitment, under which we will continue to offset 120% of our emissions.�  

Defendants then boast, �[t]hat means we are not only mitigating our environmental

impact but also making up for a little bit of someone else�s.�  (See Exhibit 1.)

12. Many bottles of FIJI water are boldly labeled �CARBON NEGATIVE�, 

as shown by the following picture:

(See Exhibit 2.)

13. To reasonable consumers, the �Carbon Negative� claim means that

Defendants� current operations remove more carbon from the atmosphere than they

release into it. Consumers are fully aware of the environmental impact associated

with bottled water and many are willing to purchase FIJI water at a higher price than

its competitors based upon the claim that FIJI water is currently �carbon negative.�  

Indeed, several studies have shown that consumers associate bottled water with

environmental consciousness, social status, and healthy living.�  Defendants charge a 

huge premium for FIJI water relative to their competitors. Indeed, a FIJI water
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executive once boasted that �What Fiji Water�s done is go out there with a package

that clearly looks like it�s worth more money, and we�ve gotten people to pay more 

for us.�  For example, the following prices are representative of the leading brands of

bottled water:

Brand of Bottled Water Price Per Liter Price Per Fluid Ounce

FIJI $2.59 8 ¢ per oz.

Aquafina $1.89 5 ¢ per oz.

Dasani $1.69 5 ¢ per oz.

Nestle $1.39 4 ¢ per oz.

Arrowhead $1.45 4 ¢ per oz.

The average price of FIJI water�s competitors is 4.5 cents per oz. That means

that FIJI water charges nearly twice as much as its competitors at approximately 8¢ a

fluid ounce.

14. Defendants� carbon-negative claim is deceptive and misleading. As

stated, reasonable consumers of FIJI water understand Defendants� �carbon-negative� 

claim as meaning that FIJI water�s current operations remove more carbon from the

atmosphere than they release into it. This is simply not the case; in reality, FIJI

water�s operations do not remove more carbon from the atmosphere than they release

into it. Instead, they use a discredited carbon accounting method called �forward 

crediting.�  (See Exhibit 3.)

15. To reduce their carbon footprint, corporations purchase carbon �offset 

credits,� which is a generic term for any tradable certificate or permit representing the

right of the purchaser to emit one ton of carbon dioxide.  �Standard offset credits� 

represent carbon reductions that have already taken place. By contrast, �forward 

offset credits� represent carbon reductions that may or may not take place up to

several decades in the future. The Stockholm Environment Institute (or SEI, a non-

profit, independent research and policy institute specializing in sustainable

development and environmental issues) is instructive on the dubious nature of forward

offset credits:
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Forward Purchasing of Offsets (FPO) carries the risk of buying credits

that might not happen �With forward crediting, the buyer pays and also

gets the offsets credited upfront, despite the fact that they will only be

produced in the future � The quantity of offsets may not be guaranteed.

Marketers of offsets (and the projects for which the future offsets model is

most useful), are typically not well enough capitalized to guarantee a

project�s future performance �Clearly forward crediting carries the risk

of claiming credits as real that may or may not happen in the future.

(See Exhibit 4.) (emphasis added.)

16. The SEI decries �forward crediting� as too complicated to understand and 

much too risky as �the successful generation of the agreed number of emission

reductions is uncertain.�  (See Exhibit 5.)

17. Plaintiff has repeatedly purchased FIJI water, instead of competing

brands and at a higher price than she would pay for other brands, based upon

Defendants� claims that FIJI water is �Carbon Negative.�  Plaintiff paid a significantly

higher purchase price for FIJI water than comparative bottled water choices due to

FIJI water�s claim that it is �Carbon Negative.�  Plaintiff would not have purchased

FIJI water at a premium if she knew that Defendants current operations did not

remove more carbon from the atmosphere than they release into it.

18. By falsely claiming that FIJI water is �Carbon Negative,� Defendants 

have induced countless consumers to pay a premium for bottled water.  Defendants� 

scheme was hatched by Stewart and Lynda Resnick, corporate officers who operate

and control the Defendants, in 2007, and Defendants have been propagating the false

�Carbon Negative� claim continuously since that time.  Indeed, FIJI water�s sales 

have skyrocketed since Defendants began making the �Carbon Negative� claim.  

Defendants� own website boasts of �tripling the sales� since Roll International

Corporation acquired FIJI Water in 2004.
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V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

19. Plaintiffs bring this class action for damages and other monetary relief on

behalf of the following class:

All persons located within California who purchased for personal use any

bottle of FIJI water bearing the term �CARBON NEGATIVE� on the bottle 

(the �Class�). 

20. Excluded from the Class are governmental entities, Defendants, any

entity in which defendants have a controlling interest, and Defendants� officers, 

directors, affiliates, legal representatives, employees, co-conspirators, successors,

subsidiaries, and assigns. Also excluded from the Class is any judge, justice, or

judicial officer presiding over this matter and the members of their immediate families

and judicial staff.

21. NUMEROSITY: The proposed Class is so numerous that individual

joinder of all its members is impracticable. Due to the nature of the trade and

commerce involved, however, Plaintiffs believe that the total number of Class

members is at least in the millions and members of the Class as numerous and

geographically dispersed across California.

22. COMMONALITY: There is a well-defined community of interest in the

questions of law and fact involved affecting the class and these common questions

predominate over any questions that may affect individual Class members. Common

questions of fact and law include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. Are Defendants� �Carbon Negative� claims about FIJI water false?

b. Are Defendants� �Carbon Negative� claims about FIJI water misleading?

c. Do Defendants have adequate substantiation to support the �Carbon 

Negative� FIJI water claims? 

d. When and to what extent did Defendants know that the FIJI water

�Carbon Negative� claims were false or misleading?

23. TYPICALITY: Plaintiff�s claims are typical of the claims of the members

of the Class. Plaintiff and all members of the Class have been similarly affected by
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Defendants� common course of conduct since they all purchased FIJI water for

personal use and paid more for Fiji than for competing brands.

24. ADEQUACY: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect

the interests of the Class. Plaintiff has no interests adverse to that of the class.

Plaintiff has retained counsel with substantial experience in handling complex class

action litigation. Plaintiff and her counsel are committed to vigorously prosecuting

this action on behalf of the Class.

25. SUPERIORITY: A class action is superior to other available methods for

the fair and efficient adjudication of the present controversy. Individual joinder of all

members of the class is impracticable. Even if individual class members had the

resources to pursue individual litigation, it would be unduly burdensome to the courts

in which the individual litigation would proceed. Individual litigation magnifies the

delay and expense to all parties in the court system of resolving the controversies

engendered by Defendants� common course of conduct.

VI. CAUSES OF ACTION

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA CONSUMER LEGAL REMEDIES ACT

(On Behalf of Plaintiff and Class against Defendants)

26. Plaintiff re-alleges the preceding paragraphs and incorporates them herein

by reference.

27. Plaintiff has standing to pursue this claim as Plaintiff has suffered injury

in fact and has lost money as a result of Defendants� actions as set forth herein.

Specifically, prior to the filing of this action, Plaintiff purchased FIJI water for her

own personal use. In so doing, she reviewed, believed, and relied upon each of the

preceding marketing claims.

28. Prior to filing this action, Plaintiff�s counsel mailed to Defendant, by

certified mail, return receipt requested, the written notice required by Civil Code
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Section 1782(a). An accurate copy of that letter is attached to this Complaint as

Exhibit 6.

29. Plaintiff has filed concurrently herewith the declaration of venue required

by Civil Code Section 1780(d).

30. Defendants� wrongful business practices constituted, and constitute, a

continuing course of conduct in violation of the California Consumer Legal Remedies

Act since Defendant continuously and falsely represented FIJI water as having

characteristics and benefits that it does not. Specifically, the policies, acts, and

practices heretofore described were intended to result in the sale of FIJI water to the

consuming public, particularly those interested in offsetting carbon emissions, and

violated and continue to violate California Civil Code §1770(a)(5) by representing

that FIJI water has characteristics, benefits and uses which it does not have, and

California Civil Code §1770(a)(7) by representing that FIJI Water is of a particular

standard or quality.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS

CODE SECTIONS 17200, ET SEQ.

(By Plaintiff and Class Against Defendants)

31. Plaintiff re-alleges the preceding paragraphs and incorporates them herein

by reference.

32. This cause of action is brought on behalf of Plaintiff individually and on

behalf of all others similarly situated, and members of the general public pursuant to

Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq., which provides that �unfair 

competition shall mean and include any unlawful, unfair or deceptive business act or

practice and unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising and any act prohibited

by Chapter I (commencing with Section 17500) as Part 3 of Division 7 of the

Business and Professions Code.� 
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33. Plaintiff has standing to pursue this claim as Plaintiff has suffered injury

in fact and has lost money as a result of Defendants� false advertising and unfair 

business practices. Specifically, prior to the filing of this action, Plaintiff purchased

FIJI water for her own personal use.

34. Defendants� actions as alleged in this Complaint constitute an unfair or

deceptive business practice within the meaning of California Business and Professions

Code section 17200 in that Defendants� actions are unfair, unlawful, and misleading,

and because the advertising statements are false and misleading within the meaning of

California Business and Professions Code sections 17200, et seq.

35. Based on the foregoing, Defendants� false and misleading marketing 

scheme violates California Civil Code §1770, et seq. in that it represents that FIJI

water has characteristics and benefits that it does not and is of a particular quality or

standard which it is not. As a result, Defendants� conduct constitutes an unlawful

business practice within the meaning of California Business & Profession Code §

17200 et seq.

36. Based on the foregoing, Defendants� conduct violates the policy or spirit

of California�s consumer protection laws, and significantly threatens or harms

consumers. The benefits of Defendants� conduct are outweighed by the harm it 

causes, and as such, Defendants� conduct is unfair within the meaning of California

Business & Professions Code §17200, et seq.

37. Based on the foregoing, Defendants fraudulently deceived Plaintiff and

the Class by representing that FIJI water has certain characteristics, benefits, uses and

qualities which it does not have and is of a particular quality or standard which it is

not. In doing so, Defendants misrepresented and concealed material facts from

Plaintiff and the Class.

38. Plaintiff seeks all remedies available under Section 17200 of the

California Business and Professions Code, including restitutionary and injunctive

relief, as well as attorneys� fees and costs.   
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS

CODE SECTIONS 17500, ET SEQ.

(Against All Defendants)

39. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the preceding paragraphs and incorporates

them herein by reference.

40. This cause of action is brought pursuant to Business and Professions

Code § 17500, et seq., on behalf of Plaintiff individually and on behalf of all

California consumers similarly situated who purchased FIJI water for personal use at

any time during the four years preceding the filing of this Complaint.

41. As alleged herein, Plaintiff has standing to pursue this claim as Plaintiff

has suffered injury in fact and has lost money as a result of Defendants� false 

advertising and unfair business practices in the amount of the purchase price of FIJI

water.

42. Defendants, in their labeling and advertising of FIJI water, made false

and misleading statements regarding its appropriate use and efficacy.

43. For a period of time from four years prior to the filing date of this lawsuit

to the present, Defendants were responsible for the manufacturing, marketing, and

distribution of FIJI water.

44. Defendants, through their marketing and advertising, represented that

FIJI water is �Carbon Negative.� 

45. This marketing campaign is false and misleading because FIJI water is

not �Carbon Negative.�  

46. Based on the foregoing, Defendants fraudulently deceived Plaintiff and

the Class by representing that FIJI water has certain characteristics, benefits, uses and

qualities which it does not have. In doing so, Defendants misrepresented and

concealed material facts from Plaintiff and the Class.

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» ïï ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæïï



Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» ïî ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæïî



Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» ïí ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæïí



Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» ïì ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæïì



15

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» ïë ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæïë



16

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» ïê ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæïê



17

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» ïé ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæïé



18

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» ïè ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæïè



19

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» ïç ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæïç



20

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» îð ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæîð



21

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» îï ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæîï



22

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» îî ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæîî



23

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» îí ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæîí



24

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» îì ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæîì



25

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» îë ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæîë



26

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» îê ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæîê



27

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» îé ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæîé



28

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» îè ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæîè



29

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» îç ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæîç



30

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» íð ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæíð



31

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» íï ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæíï



32

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» íî ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæíî



33

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» íí ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæíí



34

Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» íì ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæíì



Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» íë ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæíë



Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» íê ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæíê



Ý¿­» îæïðó½ªóðçéçëóÍÖÑ óÖÛÓ Ü±½«³»²¬ ï Ú·´»¼ ïîñîðñïð Ð¿¹» íé ±º íé Ð¿¹» ×Ü ýæíé


